Case No. S246541

SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JUN 1 2 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

THE NORTHWESTERN MUTUAL LIFE-INSURANCE COMPANY,

Deputy

Defendant-Petitioner,

v.

SANFORD J. WISHNEV, *Plaintiff-Respondent*.

After Order Certifying Question, U.S. Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit, No. 16-16037; On Appeal from U.S. District Court, Northern District of California, Hon. Edward M. Chen, No. 3:15-cv-03797-EMC

Service on California Attorney General and Contra Costa County District Attorney Required by Business & Professions Code § 17209

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

TIMOTHY J. O'DRISCOLL timothy.odriscoll@dbr.com
DRINKER BIDDLE & REATH LLP

STATEMENT OF ISSUES TO BE DECIDED

On January 18, 2018, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit issued an Order, pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.548, requesting that this Court answer two questions of California law (the "Certified Questions"). (See *Wishnev v. The Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company* (9th Cir. 2018) 880 F.3d 493, 495.) By Order dated March 14, 2018, this Court granted the Ninth Circuit's request. The two questions of state law certified by the Ninth Circuit (and the correct answers) are as follows:

1. Are the lenders identified in Article XV of the California Constitution, see Cal. Const. art. XV, § 1, as being exempt from the restrictions otherwise imposed by that article, nevertheless subject to the requirement in section 1916-2 of the California Civil Code that a lender may not compound interest "unless an agreement to that effect is clearly expressed in writing and signed by the party to be charged therewith"?

[Answer: No.]

2. Does an agreement meet the requirement of section 1916-2 if it is comprised of: (1) an application for insurance signed by the borrower, and (2) a policy of insurance containing an agreement for compound interest that is subsequently attached to the application, thus constituting the entire contract between the parties pursuant to section 10113 of the California Insurance Code?

[Answer: Yes.]

(Wishnev, supra, 880 F.3d at p. 495.) A "no" answer to the first question would be dispositive and would not require any answer to the second question. However, if this Court answers both questions in favor of

Plaintiff-Respondent Sanford J. Wishnev, a third question would arise: If this Court decides that the compound interest restriction applies, and/or that an agreement comprised of an insurance policy disclosing compound interest and an attached, signed application does not satisfy this requirement, should this Court's decision apply prospectively only?

[Answer: Yes.]

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff-Respondent Sanford J. Wishnev ("Wishnev") contends that Defendant-Petitioner The Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company's ("Northwestern Mutual") charging of compound interest on his life insurance policy loans violates a century-old usury initiative requiring that "interest shall not be compounded . . . unless an agreement to that effect is clearly expressed in writing and signed by the party to be charged therewith." (Cal. Civ. Code, § 1916-2 (hereafter, "section 2 of the 1918 usury initiative").) Well-established California precedent defeats Wishnev's argument, for two main reasons.

First, insurance policy loans are not subject to the compound interest restriction of section 2 of the 1918 usury initiative because the restriction was superseded as to exempt lenders such as Northwestern Mutual by the 1934 amendment to Section 1 of Article XV of the California Constitution. The 1934 amendment vests in the Legislature the exclusive authority to set maximum rates and "in any manner fix, regulate or limit, the fees, bonuses, commissions, discounts or other compensation" that exempt lenders may collect from borrowers, and supersedes all conflicting provisions of law. (Cal. Const., art. XV, § 1(1)-(2).) In 1979, Section 1 of Article XV was further amended to give the Legislature the power to expand the class of exempt lenders by statute. And in 1981, the Legislature exercised that authority by establishing Northwestern Mutual and other admitted insurers as exempt lenders by enacting Insurance Code section 1100.1, which provides, "This section creates and authorizes incorporated admitted insurers as an exempt class of persons pursuant to Section 1 of Article XV of the Constitution." This Court has repeatedly held that the exemption

created by the 1934 amendment superseded the usury law—which includes the 1918 usury initiative—as to exempt lenders.

Second, there is no violation of the compound interest restriction of section 2 of the 1918 usury initiative in any event, because Wishnev signed an agreement that interest on policy loans would be compounded—the life insurance contract, which under well-settled California law consists of both the signed application and the attached insurance policy. (See Ins. Code, § 10113.) Indeed, signing the application is the manner by which Wishnev agreed to all provisions of the life insurance contract, including the right to take a policy loan subject to the charging of compound interest if the loan interest was not repaid. Further, Wishnev, like other policy owners, had the signed agreement with the compound interest disclosure in his possession prior to the taking of any policy loans.

For these and other reasons set forth herein, this Court should hold that Northwestern Mutual is exempt from the compound interest restriction in section 2 of the 1918 usury initiative, or, at a minimum, that Northwestern Mutual complied with the statute.

If this Court were to reach a contrary conclusion, such a decision should apply prospectively only, as Northwestern Mutual and other life insurers have reasonably relied on decades of settled law, including Insurance Code section 10113, and established business practices to reach binding agreements with policyholders, including the charging of compound interest.

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Northwestern Mutual has been an incorporated insurer admitted in California since 1868. (*Wishnev, supra*, 880 F.3d at p. 499.)¹ Its life insurance policy forms must be filed with the California Department of Insurance, and must fully comply with the California Insurance Code. (See Ins. Code, § 10163.35.)

Northwestern Mutual's whole life insurance policies permit the policyholder to borrow up to the amount of the accumulated cash value of the policy. (*Wishnev, supra*, 880 F.3d at p. 499.) Because policy loans are secured by the accumulated cash value, the policies must be in force for a period of time before a policy owner may take a loan so that the cash value has time to accumulate through the payment of premiums and the potential issuance of dividends from the insurer. (*Ibid.*)

Policy loans may be used to pay outstanding premiums or may be paid to policyholders in cash. (See 8 Appleman on Insurance (2015) § 88.04.) They are further advantageous to borrowers because they do not require a credit check and do not need to be paid back, in whole or in part, while the policy is in force. (*Ibid.*) When policy loans are used to pay premiums, they prevent a policy from lapsing for nonpayment, thus providing an additional benefit to the policy owner as well as the beneficiaries. (*Ibid.*)

Wishnev commenced this action on July 14, 2015, filing a putative class action Complaint in Contra Costa County Superior Court. His counsel asserted similar claims in three other nearly identical putative class actions in California, filed over a six-month period, against other admitted

¹ "Admitted" in this context means "entitled to transact insurance business" in California. (Ins. Code, § 24.)

insurers that do business in the state: Prudential (*Washburn v. Prudential Insurance Company of America*, No. 15-CV-04009-SI (N.D.Cal., Illston, J.) ("*Washburn*")), MetLife (*Martin v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Company*, No. 3:16-cv-00484-RS (N.D.Cal., Seeborg, J.) ("*Martin*")), and New York Life (*Lujan v. New York Life Insurance Company*, No. 4:16-cv-00913-JSW (N.D.Cal., White, J.) ("*Lujan*")). Each action was premised on an alleged violation of the compound interest restriction of section 2 of the 1918 usury initiative.

Northwestern Mutual removed this action to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California. Wishnev filed a First Amended Complaint in that court on September 3, 2015, alleging that he is the holder of four life insurance policies issued by Northwestern Mutual. (*Wishnev, supra*, 880 F.3d at p. 499.)

In obtaining each policy, Wishnev executed an application, and then an insurance policy was issued and delivered to him with the signed application attached. (*Wishnev, supra*, 880 F.3d at pp. 495, 499.) Each policy provides that the policy and the application together constitute the entire contract between Wishnev and Northwestern Mutual: "This policy and the application, a copy of which is attached when issued, constitute the entire contract." (*Id.* at p. 499.) This is consistent with the mandate of Insurance Code section 10113: "Every policy of life . . . insurance delivered within this State on or after the first day of January, 1936, by any insurer doing such business within this State shall contain and be deemed to constitute the entire contract between the parties and nothing shall be incorporated therein by reference to any constitution, by-laws, rules, application or other writings, of either of the parties thereto or of any other person, unless the same are indorsed upon or attached to the policy."

Each of Wishnev's policies expressly provides that interest on policy loans shall be compounded. (*Wishnev, supra*, 880 F.3d at p. 499 [policies

state "Unpaid interest shall be added to and become part of the loan and shall bear interest on the same terms."].)

Years after he received the insurance contracts, Wishnev took out policy loans against each of them. (*Wishnev, supra*, 880 F.3d at p. 499.) Even though he had signed the applications (which were part of the insurance contracts delivered to him before he took any loans), accepted the delivered insurance policies subject to all the terms and conditions contained therein, and exercised his contractual right to obtain loans under the policy loan provisions of the policies, Wishnev now claims that he should not be charged compound interest because he never signed any agreement authorizing Northwestern Mutual to charge him compound interest on his policy loans.

Northwestern Mutual filed a motion to dismiss Wishnev's First Amended Complaint on the two grounds explained above. The District Court (Chen, J.) denied the motion, holding that while exempt lenders such as admitted insurers *are* exempt from the usury law's "maximum interest rate provisions," they are *not* exempt from the compound interest restriction of section 2. (*Wishnev v. Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company* (N.D.Cal. 2016) 162 F.Supp.3d 930, 940.) In addition, the District Court concluded that Wishnev had not signed a written agreement to be charged compound interest, despite his signature on the policy applications, the policy provisions, and decades of case law that instruct that the applications and policies operate as an integrated contract. (*Id.* at p. 949.)

The District Court's decision is the only one to read the law this way; three other federal judges in the Northern District of California examined the same issues and reached the opposite conclusions. In *Washburn, Martin*, and *Lujan*, each district judge concluded that admitted insurers *are* exempt from the compound interest restriction of section 2 of

the 1918 usury initiative, and on that basis granted the insurers' motions to dismiss. (See *Washburn v. Prudential Insurance Company of America* (N.D.Cal. 2015) 158 F.Supp.3d 888, 896; *Martin v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Company* (N.D.Cal. 2016) 179 F.Supp.3d 948, 956; *Lujan v. New York Life Insurance Company* (N.D.Cal., Aug. 9, 2016, No. 4:16-cv-00913-JSW) 2016 WL 4483870, at *6.)

The *Martin* and *Lujan* courts also found that the practice of delivering the signed insurance contract with the compound interest disclosure in the policy prior to the taking of any policy loans complied with the compound interest restriction. (See *Martin, supra*, 179 F.Supp.3d at p. 957; *Lujan, supra*, 2016 WL 4483870, at *7.)²

In this case, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit granted permission for Northwestern Mutual to appeal the order denying its motion to dismiss. On January 18, 2018, after briefing and argument, the Ninth Circuit panel certified the following questions of California law to this Court:

- 1. Are the lenders identified in Article XV of the California Constitution, see Cal. Const. art. XV, § 1, as being exempt from the restrictions otherwise imposed by that article, nevertheless subject to the requirement in section 1916-2 of the California Civil Code that a lender may not compound interest "unless an agreement to that effect is clearly expressed in writing and signed by the party to be charged therewith"?
- 2. Does an agreement meet the requirement of section 1916-2 if it is comprised of: (1) an application for insurance signed by the borrower, and (2) a policy of insurance containing an agreement for compound interest that is subsequently attached to the application,

² The Washburn court did not reach this issue.

thus constituting the entire contract between the parties pursuant to section 10113 of the California Insurance Code?

(*Wishnev, supra*, 880 F.3d at p. 495.)

By Order dated March 14, 2018, this Court granted the Ninth Circuit's request to decide the Certified Questions and designated Northwestern Mutual the Petitioner.³

IV.

ARGUMENT

A. Exempt Classes of Persons Pursuant to Section 1 of Article XV of the California Constitution Are Exempt from the Compound Interest Restriction of Section 2 of the 1918 Usury Initiative.

Well-settled California law dictates that, pursuant to Article XV of the state Constitution, the Legislature has the sole power to set interest rates and to regulate "in any manner" the compensation that exempt classes of persons, including admitted insurers such as Northwestern Mutual, receive in connection with loans. The compound interest restriction of section 2 of the 1918 usury initiative, like all restrictions of the usury law, is therefore superseded and does not apply as to exempt classes of persons such as admitted insurers. We briefly provide an overview of the 1918 usury initiative and the relevant constitutional amendments that have superseded it as to exempt classes of lenders.

³ Plaintiffs in *Martin* and *Lujan* also appealed the orders granting the motions to dismiss filed by the insurers in those cases. Those appeals have been stayed by the Ninth Circuit pending this Court's decision on the Certified Questions. (See *Martin*, No. 16-15690; *Lujan*, No. 16-16401.) The plaintiff in *Washburn* did not appeal the order granting the motion to dismiss filed by the insurer in that case, and that order is final.

1. The 1918 Usury Initiative

California's "usury law is based upon article XV, section 1 of the California Constitution as well as an initiative measure adopted in 1918." (*Bisno v. Kahn* (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1087, 1098 (citations omitted).)⁴

Section 1 of the 1918 usury initiative, characterized as a "rate setting provision," provides that the rate of interest upon a loan shall be seven percent per year, but that parties may contract for a greater rate of interest not exceeding 12 percent per annum. (Civ. Code, § 1916–1; see also *Bisno, supra*, 225 Cal.App.4th at p. 1099.)

Section 2 of the 1918 usury initiative provides, inter alia, that no person shall directly or indirectly receive any compensation, in money or otherwise, in excess of the 12 percent rate; that interest shall not be compounded, unless an agreement to that effect is clearly expressed in writing and signed; and that any agreement in conflict with the provisions of section 2 shall be null and void as to any agreement therein to pay interest. The full text of section 2 of the 1918 usury initiative is as follows:

No person, company, association or corporation shall directly or indirectly take or receive in money, goods or things in action, or in any manner whatsoever, any greater sum or any greater value for the loan or forbearance of money, goods or things in action than at the rate of twelve dollars upon one hundred dollars for one year; and in the computation of interest upon any bond, note, or other instrument or agreement, interest shall not be compounded, nor shall the interest thereon be construed to

⁴ The 1918 usury initiative specifies that it "may be designated simply as the 'usury law.'" (Civ. Code, § 1916-5.) Consistent with the California state courts, Northwestern Mutual refers herein "to the constitutional and initiative provisions collectively as the 'usury law.'" (Bisno, supra, 225 Cal.App.4th at p. 1098.) Where necessary to distinguish between the two provisions, Northwestern Mutual refers to the "constitutional usury provisions" or the "1918 usury initiative." (See *ibid*.)

bear interest unless an agreement to that effect is clearly expressed in writing and signed by the party to be charged therewith. Any agreement or contract of any nature in conflict with the provisions of this section shall be null and void as to any agreement or stipulation therein contained to pay interest and no action at law to recover interest in any sum shall be maintained and the debt cannot be declared due until the full period of time it was contracted for has elapsed.

(Civ. Code, § 1916-2 (emphasis added).) Wishnev argues the aboveemphasized phrase alone survives as to exempt lenders such as admitted insurers, but two constitutional amendments, in 1934 and 1979, implementing legislation, and interpretive case law demonstrate otherwise.

2. The 1934 Amendment

"The first modification to the 1918 usury initiative took the form of [the 1934 amendment]." (Bisno, supra, 225 Cal.App.4th at p. 1099 (citing Penziner v. W. Am. Finance Co. (1937) 10 Cal.2d 160, 170, 177-78).) The 1934 amendment accomplished several things. *First*, it reduced the maximum permissible interest rate from 12 percent to 10 percent. (Cal. Const., art. XV, § 1(1).) Second, the second paragraph of the amendment provided that no person could charge any other "fee, bonus, commission, discount or other compensation" that resulted in the borrower paying more than the maximum 10 percent per annum interest rate. (Id. § 1(2).) This language is substantially similar to the first phrase of section 2 of the 1918 usury initiative, except for the rate reduction. (See *Penziner*, supra, 10 Cal.2d at p. 172 ["Except as to the reduction of interest from 12 per cent to 10 per cent per annum this paragraph is substantially similar to the first part of section 2 of the usury law."].) *Third*, and most important for purposes of this appeal, the third paragraph of the amendment exempted certain enumerated classes of lenders (including those classes of lenders whose

predominant business was the lending of money, such as banks and credit unions) from the requirements of the usury law, and granted the Legislature the following authority:

[T]he Legislature may from time to time prescribe the maximum rate per annum of, or provide for the supervision, or the filing of a schedule of, or in any manner fix, regulate or limit, the fees, bonus, commissions, discounts or other compensation which all or any of the said exempted classes of persons may charge or receive from a borrower in connection with any loan or forbearance of any money, goods or things in action.

(Cal. Const., art. XV, § 1(2).) *Finally*, the amendment stated that "[t]he provisions of this section shall supersede all provisions of this Constitution and laws enacted thereunder in conflict therewith." (*Ibid.*)

This Court has repeatedly recognized that the exemption created by the 1934 amendment superseded the usury law insofar as it applied to exempt lenders, and re-vested in the Legislature the power to regulate the interest and charges of exempt lenders in all respects. For example, in *Penziner*, this Court stated: "Of course, the placing in the hands of the legislature the control of the charges to be made by the exempted groups is inconsistent with the usury law over which the legislature has no power." (*Penziner, supra*, 10 Cal.2d at p. 177.) Similarly, in *Wolf v. Pacific Southwest Discount Corp*. (1937) 10 Cal.2d 183, 184, issued the same day as *Penziner*, this Court stated that the exemption paragraph of the 1934 amendment "designated certain organizations and individuals which are exempt from the general provisions of the usury law."

In Carter v. Seaboard Finance Co. (1949) 33 Cal.2d 564, 579, this Court explained that "the objective of the [1934] amendment was to abolish the inflexible, inadequate and unworkable provisions of the usury law and

to reestablish in the Legislature the power to enact laws affecting the business of lending money in this state." This Court further observed:

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