SUPREME COURT COPY

OPY CRC 8.25(b) SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 1 3 2018

Case No. S246541

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

THE NORTHWESTERN MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant and Petitioner,

VS.

## SANFORD J. WISHNEV Plaintiff and Respondent

After Order Certifying Question to the California Supreme Court by the U.S. Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit, Case No. 16-16037, on Appeal from the U.S. District Court, Northern District of California, Hon. Edward M. Chen, Judge Presiding, Case No. 3:15-cv-03797-EMC

Service on California Attorney General and Contra Costa County District Attorney -- Business & Professions Code §17209

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

Where a modification will suffice, a repeal will not be presumed. [Citations.]

Penziner at 176. See also, Citizens Ass'n of Sunset Beach v. Orange Cty. Local Agency Formation Comm'n (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 1182 at 1192 ("[C]ourts are required to try to harmonize constitutional language with that of existing statutes if possible.").4

Furthermore, the Initiative's disclosure/consent requirement before compounding interest is remedial in nature, intended to protect unwary borrowers from being charged such interest. *McConnell v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc.* (1983) 33 Cal.3d 816,

Penziner's summary of the presumption against implied repeals remains as valid today as when stated in 1937:

There is a strong presumption against repeal by implication. (*People v. Park* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 782, 798, 156 Cal.Rptr.3d 307, 299 P.3d 1263.) "'Absent an express declaration of legislative intent, we will find an implied repeal "only when there is no rational basis for harmonizing the two potentially conflicting statutes [citation], and the statutes are 'irreconcilable, clearly repugnant, and so inconsistent that the two cannot have concurrent operation." [Citation.]' [Citation.]" (*Merrill v. Navegar, Inc.* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 465, 487, 110 Cal.Rptr.2d 370, 28 P.3d 116.) "Courts have also noted that implied repeal should not be found unless '... the later provision gives undebatable evidence of an intent to supersede the earlier....' [Citation.]" (*Western Oil & Gas Assn. v. Monterey Bay Unified Air Pollution Control Dist.* (1989) 49 Cal.3d 408, 420, 261 Cal.Rptr. 384, 777 P.2d 157.)

Tuolumne Jobs & Small Bus. All. v. Superior Court (2014), 59 Cal.4th 1029, 1039. See also, id. at 1035 ("In light of the initiative power's significance in our democracy, courts have a duty 'to jealously guard this right of the people' and must preserve the use of an initiative if doubts can be reasonably resolved in its favor.").

823 ("McConnell II").<sup>5</sup> Therefore, it is to be construed broadly in favor of maximum protection for the intended beneficiaries, in this case, borrowers. State Dep't of Pub. Health v. Superior Court (2015) 60 Cal.4th 940, 9511 ("a remedial statute ... is to be liberally construed on behalf of the class of persons it is designed to protect"); McLean v. State (2016) 1 Cal.5<sup>th</sup> 615, 622 (same).

Taken together, these rules of construction militate in favor of finding, if reasonably possible, that the Initiative's disclosure/consent applies to "exempt" lenders, (a) to preserve the integrity of the Initiative to the maximum extent possible and not clearly repugnant to the later enactment, and (b) to maximize protection to borrowers.

Thus, the relevant inquiry here should not be focused on seeking to identify the single *most* reasonable construction of Art. XV. Rather, the pertinent question is whether *any* reasonable construction of Art. XV exists under which the Initiative's disclosure/consent requirement remains applicable to "exempt" lenders. If so, the Court should adopt that construction.

<sup>&</sup>quot;This conclusion [strictly enforcing the requirements of Section 2] not only safeguards the interests of the borrower, which is an important objective of section 2, but it also furthers the remedial purposes of the section." *McConnell II*, 33 Cal.3d at 823.

The result advocated by NWM is inconsistent with these rules of construction – rules which NWM does not even acknowledge.

As shown below, there is nothing unreasonable or inconsistent in construing Art. XV to allow enforcement of *both* the Initiative's procedural requirement of disclosure/consent and the Legislature's authority over loan-related rates and charges by exempt lenders. Indeed, Wishnev submits that this is the *best* construction of the provisions at issue. Regardless, certainly it is *one* reasonable construction and therefore should be adopted.

## 2. Art XV's Exemption Language Is Narrow In Scope

Article XV, paragraph 3, expressly states precisely what exempt lenders are exempt from: "However, none of the above restrictions shall apply to any obligations of, loans made by, or forbearances of, any ... other class of persons authorized by statute..." (Emphasis added.)

What are those "above restrictions?" Paragraph 1 of Art. XV solely addresses maximum interest rates. Paragraph 2 provides: "No person, association, copartnership or corporation shall by charging any fee, bonus, commission, discount or other compensation receive from a borrower more than the interest authorized by this section upon

any loan or forbearance of any money, goods or things in action."

Thus, Paragraph 2 enforces the maximum interest rates in Paragraph

1.

The phrase "none of the above restrictions" in this context is clear and unambiguous. "The above restrictions" require only that

(a) loans carry interest rates at or below the specified maximums and

(b) certain loan-related charges be counted in complying with those rate limits. It is simply impossible to read into this language an express exemption from the Initiative's disclosure/consent requirement. NWM does not even proffer any argument to the contrary.

Instead, NWM argues that the Initiative's disclosure/consent requirement was repealed by implication as to exempt lenders based upon the final sentence of the third paragraph of Art. XV. We turn next to that argument.

3. The Court Should Reject NWM's
Argument That the Initiative's
Disclosure/Consent Requirement
Was Repealed By Implication

The final sentence of Art. XV's third paragraph states:

The Legislature may from time to time prescribe the maximum rate per annum of, or provide for the supervision, or the filing of a schedule of, or in any

manner fix, regulate or limit, the fees, bonuses, commissions, discounts or other compensation which all or any of the said exempted classes of persons may charge or receive from a borrower in connection with any loan or forbearance of any money, goods or things in action.

NWM contends that there is an irreconcilable conflict between this language and the Initiative's disclosure/consent requirement and therefore that the Initiative was repealed by implication. For two alternative reasons, this contention is not meritorious.

First, as explained in the next section, there is no irreconcilable conflict between the Initiative's requirement and the Legislature's authority to substantively regulate exempt entities' loans even if the subject of compounding of interest falls within the scope of Art. XV's express statement of that authority.

Second, though the Court need not reach the question if it agrees with Wishnev on the first point, a fair reading of the language of the final sentence of Art. XV's third paragraph is that it does not embrace the question of compounding.

Preliminarily, it should be emphasized that the voters, when they adopted the Constitutional language at issue, included only "a limited repealing clause," repealing only those earlier enactments which stood in direct conflict with the later provisions. *Penziner*, at

176 (to find implied repeal "the two acts must be irreconcilable, clearly repugnant, and so inconsistent that the two cannot have concurrent operation."). As noted above, in such situations, courts seek to harmonize the enactments, giving maximum continuing effect to each whenever possible.

Similarly, the Court should be particularly reluctant to accept NWM's implied repeal argument because the voters included an explicit exemption provision in the Constitutional enactment itself—an exemption focused only on interest rate caps. It is undisputed that the purpose of the Constitutional Amendment in 1934 was to address perceived deficiencies in some of the Initiative's provisions. *Carter, supra*, 33 Cal.2d at 577. The Amendment expressly alters the treatment of certain lenders insofar as interest rate caps are concerned. Yet it is completely silent regarding the Initiative's disclosure/consent requirement. <sup>6</sup>

NWM thus faces a particularly heavy burden in persuading this

Court that the voters intended to repeal the Initiative's disclosure and

The exemption language could easily have been phrased: "However, none of the above restrictions, nor any provisions of the Initiative, shall apply...[to exempt lenders]."

consent requirement as to exempt lenders *sub silentio*. Only the clearest showing of direct and irreconcilable conflict should suffice.

NWM has failed to make such a showing. Indeed, as explained below, the pertinent provisions of the Initiative and Article XV can be harmonized, giving continued effect to the Initiative's provision as to lenders expressly exempted from the interest rate limitations without conflicting with the Legislature's authority over those same lenders.

a. Assuming Arguendo That Compound
Interest Is Embraced Within the List
of Charges Expressly Subject to
Regulation by the Legislature, the
Initiative's Disclosure and Consent
Requirement Is Consistent with Such
Regulation

There are strong reasons, explained below, to conclude that compounding of interest is not among the charges which Art. XV expressly lists as under the control of the Legislature. However, even if Art. XV were construed to imbue the Legislature with exclusive authority over compounding of interest by exempt lenders as a substantive matter, application of the disclosure/consent requirement can be harmonized with that construction.

The Initiative does not purport to affirmatively *authorize* (let alone to mandate) the compounding of interest under any

circumstances, nor does the compound interest portion of the Initiative require or forbid any particular rate of interest or total amounts of loan charges. Instead, the Initiative merely imposes a procedural threshold of disclosure and consent before a particular loan agreement will be deemed to allow compounding of interest as a matter of contract. <sup>7</sup>

Therefore, applying the Initiative's requirement to loans by exempt entities still leaves the Legislature with the unfettered authority to substantively regulate those loans: The Legislature retains full authority to prohibit compounding by an exempt lender altogether if it so chooses -- compliance with the Initiative gives no immunity to such a Legislative ban. Similarly, the Legislature can limit the frequency of compounding by such a lender, or allow compounding but reduce the interest rate cap if the lender does so, or require additional disclosures or consent mechanisms before compounding.

NWM suggests that the Initiative's requirement should be viewed as "substantive," not "procedural," because failure to comply prevents the charging or collection of compounded interest (POB at 31), though NWM itself later urges the opposite when it suits its purposes. (*Id.* at 48.) Of course, failure to comply with procedural requirements can result in forfeiture of rights otherwise available. *E.g., People v. Shirokow* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 301, 304 (failure to comply with Water Code procedures results in loss of water rights). In any event, the characterization of the Initiative's requirement as "procedural" or "substantive" is of little importance to the outcome of this case.

There is nothing unreasonable about this harmonization of the two enactments. Both can be given effect. The Initiative is not irreconcilable with Art. XV, even if a broad view of the final sentence of the provision's third paragraph were to be adopted.

NWM crafts an opposing argument only through misrepresentation of the result of a ruling against it, listing a parade of horribles that it contends would follow. NWM states:

Under Wishnev's theory that the compound interest prohibition was excluded from the exemption, the Legislature would lack the power to, for example, absolutely prohibit the charging of compound interest by exempt lenders because section 2 allows a lender to charge compound interest if a written agreement is signed by the borrower.

#### (POB at 31.) And:

Under Wishnev's one-size fits all theory, the Legislature would lack the power to, for example, require exempt lenders to provide annual or other periodic disclosures if unsigned by the borrower, or otherwise to regulate the charging of compound interest in whatever manner the Legislature saw fit as befitting the nature of the lender's industry.

#### (POB at 32.) And:

Indeed, the notion that the Legislature would have the authority to prescribe a "maximum interest rate," but could not otherwise regulate, supervise, fix or limit compound interest charges that unquestionably impact the maximum amount of interest charged to the borrower and the total compensation received by the lender, is absurd.

(POB at 34.)

These assertions are simply wrong and depend upon inaccurate assumptions about the results of a ruling that the Initiative's disclosure/consent requirement applies to exempt entities' loans. The Initiative does not "allow[] a lender to charge compound interest if a written agreement is signed by the borrower" (POB at 31); it *prohibits* a lender from charging compound interest if it fails to obtain that written consent. The requirement is a necessary hurdle; it is not sufficient authorization. Thus, application of the Initiative's disclosure/consent requirement to loans by all lenders would *not* impair the Legislature's authority to prohibit exempt lenders from compounding interest.

For the same reason, a ruling against NWM here would not prevent the Legislature from "requir[ing] exempt lenders to provide annual or other periodic disclosures if unsigned by the borrower, or otherwise to regulate the charging of compound interest." (POB at 32.) To the contrary, the Legislature will remain free to require any additional disclosures (signed or unsigned) as it sees fit and to regulate in whatever way is deemed appropriate, including limiting

the maximum interest rate to reflect the impact of compounding if the Legislature desires to do so.<sup>8</sup>

b. Compounding of Interest is a Method of Calculation and Does Not Fairly
Fall Within the Phrase "fee, bonus, commission, discount or other compensation" as Used in Article XV

For the reasons stated immediately above, this Court need not reach the question whether compounding of interest falls within the items specifically enumerated within the final sentence of Art. XV's third paragraph, as to which the Legislature has been granted explicit authority to regulate. The Initiative's disclosure and consent

NWM states that "this Court has been clear that Wishnev's position that the Legislature can set maximum rates but cannot control charges that may be used by lenders to circumvent the maximum rates - would frustrate the clear purpose of the 1934 amendment." (POB at 33.) NWM cites Federal District Court decisions so noting. (*Id.* at 33-34.) However, those District Courts, like NWM, misstate the result of applying the Initiative's disclosure/consent requirement to exempt lenders. The Initiative's provision does not act as an affirmative grant of authority to charge compound interest. The Legislature's authority to prohibit or limit such charges is unaffected.

Moreover, NWM's argument confuses the question of the authority expressly granted to the Legislature through Art. XV with its more general authority to enact Legislation regulating a wide variety of commercial activities, including financial transactions. So long as it does not act in contravention of a voter-enacted initiative or constitutional provision, the Legislature has plenary power to regulate reasonably in furtherance of the public interest. Cf. California Bldg. Indus. Assn. v. City of San Jose (2015) 61 Cal.4th 435, 463-464 ("price controls, like other forms of regulation, are, as a general matter, a constitutionally permissible means to achieve a municipality's legitimate public purposes."); Calfarm Ins. Co. v. Deukmejian (1989) 48 Cal.3d 805, 816 (same, as to insurance regulation).

requirement can be harmonized with Art. XV even assuming arguendo that Art. XV's language does embrace compounding.

However, if the Court reaches the issue, it should find that the best reading of the language does not encompass compounding, particularly in light of the mandate to identify a harmonizing construction if possible. That conclusion would offer an additional, alternative ground for rejecting NWM's contention of an irreconcilable conflict between the two enactments.

The final sentence of the third paragraph of Art. XV covers two categories: First, it authorizes the Legislature to "prescribe the maximum rate per annum" for loans issued by exempt entities.

Second, it authorizes the Legislature to "provide for the supervision, or the filing of a schedule of, or in any manner fix, regulate or limit, the fees, bonuses, commissions, discounts or other compensation" on exempt lenders' loans.

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